IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-474

HARRY JONES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRODY & HAZEN, P.A. Attorneys at Law P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, FL 32317

JEFFREY M. HAZEN Florida Bar No. 0153060

HARRY BRODY Florida Bar No. 0977860

Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 25, 1991, Mr. Jones was charged by information with second-degree murder, robbery, and grand theft of a motor vehicle (R. 4-5) On July 18, 1991, Mr. Jones charged by superceding indictment with first-degree murder, robbery, and grand theft of a motor vehicle. (R. 1-2) Mr. Jones entered a plea of not guilty. (R. 18-20) Mr. Jones was tried by jury in May, 1992. The jury was unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared. Mr. Jones was tried again in November 1992, and the jury returned verdicts of guilt on all charges. (R. 786-90) The jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2. (PC-R. 93) The trial court sentenced Mr. Jones to death on November 20, 1992. (R. 828-36) Mr. Jones timely sought direct appeal to this Court. (PC-R. 149-50) This Court affirmed Mr. Jones' convictions and death sentence. Jones v. State, 648 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1994). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Jones v. Florida, 515 U.S. 1147 (1995).

Mr. Jones filed a post-conviction shell motion on March 21, 1997. (PC-R. 235-47) Mr. Jones filed an amended post-conviction motion on March 19, 2003. (PC-R. 468-573). A <u>Huff</u> hearing was held in the matter on January 16, 2004. The trial court granted an evidentiary hearing as to the majority of sub-

claims in Claims I-IV of Mr. Jones' amended motion. The court withheld consideration of Claim XIII (cumulative error) until the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing was held in this matter on April 15-16, 2004. (PC-R. 85-86). Both Mr. Jones and the state submitted post-hearing written argument. (PC-R. 767-834) On April 11, 2005, Mr. Jones filed a supplemental 3.851 motion averring that a witness would testify that trial witness Kevin Prim stated that he testified falsely at Mr. Jones trial. (PC-R. 888-911) On September 23, 2005, the trial court entered two separate orders denying relief as to Mr. Jones' amended post-conviction motion. (PC-R. 926-1103) One order dealt with claims summarily denied and the other dealt with claims for which an evidentiary hearing was granted. Mr. Jones sought timely appeal. (PC-R. 1104-05) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

Greg Cummings testified that he is an attorney and has practiced in Tallahassee since 1985. (EHT. 4) Cummings worked

^{1&}lt;u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993)

²There was no written order as to the scope of the evidentiary hearing.

³The orders did not address or acknowledge Mr. Jones' supplemental 3.851 motion filed April 11, 2005. Mr. Jones requested, after this matter was appealed, for this Court to relinquish jurisdiction so that the trial court could hear the supplemental motion. This Court, in an order dated November 2, 2006, by a vote of 5-2, denied Mr. Jones' request to relinquish. Thus, the supplemental motion is still

for the Public Defender's office handling felony cases, but no capital cases. (Id.) Cummings handled no murder cases while at the Public Defender. (EHT. 5) Cummings eventually went into private practice. (Id.) Cummings began representation of Mr. Jones in 1991 and this was his first murder case and first penalty phase. (EHT. 5-6) Cummings was appointed to the case because of a Public Defender representation conflict between Mr. Jones and witness Kevin Prim. (EHT. 7) Cummings became aware that Prim had been released from jail in close proximity to giving a statement against Mr. Jones. (EHT. 8) Cummings was "certainly" interested in the circumstances of Prim's release, or "ROR". (Id.) Cummings identified a document, Defense Exhibit 3, that is a copy of a supplemental police report, authored by lead detective Mike Wood of the Leon County Sheriff's Office, from Cummings' file. (EHT. 9) Cummings noted that the date September 12 is circled and above the word "released" is the word "how?", written in Cummings handwriting. (EHT. 9-10) Cummings stated that he never saw the Public Defender's internal conflict memorandum regarding their withdrawal from the Mr. Jones' case. (EHT. 11) Cummings would have wanted to know about any promises made to Prim in exchange for his testimony. (Id.) Cummings would have used any evidence of a deal "whole heartedly and with much force." (EHT. 12)

pending in circuit court and is not a subject of this appeal.

Cummings recalled that as trial approached, he was aware of some ongoing criminality by Prim. (EHT. 14) Cummings testified that any new or ongoing criminality by a state witness "certainly benefits the defense in any cross-examination." (Id.) Cummings agreed that the trial record questions of Prim would reflect what he knew about Prim's ongoing criminal behavior. (EHT. 15) Cummings agreed that exclusive of snitch testimony, the case was largely circumstantial. (EHT. 16) Cummings identified a police report dated July 11, 1992, and signed by Mike Wood. (EHT. 18) The report relates to Kevin (EHT. 19) Cummings identified a police report dated November 19, 1992, regarding Kevin Prim. (EHT. 21) The report references two separate thefts by Prim, one on October 24, 1992, and one on November 11, 1992. (Id.) The lower court took judicial notice that the jury was sworn in on November 10, 1992, at 9:25 a.m. and the trial began at that time. (Id.) Cummings was not aware, at the time of trial, of Prim's involvement in the criminal activity reflected in the report of November 19th. (EHT. 22) Cummings would have certainly been interested in this information or, in his words, he would "have had a field day with that information." (Id.) Cummings identified a petit theft arrest report with a date of November 19, 1992. (EHT. 23) Kevin Prim is the arrestee in the report. (EHT. 24) Cummings

was not aware of this report or arrest and stated that he "certainly" would have wanted the information. (EHT. 25)

Cummings identified a supplemental arrest report related to a drug paraphernalia arrest of Kevin Prim. (Id.) Prim was found in possession of a crack pipe. (EHT. 26) Cummings was not aware of this arrest. (Id.) Cummings would have wanted to know that Prim was a drug addict and would have asked him about this. (EHT. 29)

Cummings identified notes that stated, in part, "witness saw victim driving earlier in the evening obviously DUI." (EHT. 30) These notes were under the name Don Ross, a Florida Highway Patrolman. (EHT. 31) Cummings said this indicates to him that Ross "saw the victim in this matter driving earlier in the evening obviously DUI and didn't do anything about it." (Id.) Cummings was not aware of this information at the time of trial. (Id.) Cummings recalled that part of the state's theory was that the victim would not have let Mr. Jones drive his vehicle. (EHT. 33) Cummings would have wanted the information in this note. (Id.)

Cummings identified an incident report dated February 27-28, 1991 regarding a burglary of the victim's home. (EHT. 34)

Cummings identified an incident report dated May 5, 1991 regarding an incident at "Jessie's Florist." (EHT. 35)

Cummings did not receive the information contained in this report at the time of trial. (Id.) Cummings stated that he would have been interested in the reports and would have used them to Mr. Jones' benefit if he could. (EHT. 36-37)

Cummings testified that Mr. Jones did nothing to impede Cummings' penalty phase investigation. (EHT. 38) Mr. Jones never asked Cummings not to investigate or present mitigation. (Id.) Mr. Jones never asked Cummings not talk to certain witnesses, including family and friends. (EHT. 39) Cummings did not recall if he asked his investigators to investigate mitigation. (Id.) Cummings testified that there was a plea offer for a life sentence in this case. (Id.) The offer was made more than once, Cummings thought before both trials, but definitely before the second trial. (Id.) Cummings testified that he believed a penalty phase was a likely occurrence in this case. (EHT. 40) Cummings never hired a mental health expert in this case, never filed a motion requesting appointment of a mental health expert, and never sought to have Mr. Jones examined for competency, sanity, or statutory mitigation (EHT. 41) Cummings testified that there is a memorandum in his file written by Nancy Showalter. (Id.) Cummings identified the document. (EHT. 41-42) Cummings had the document. (EHT. 42) Cummings did not recall making contact with Berland (Id.)

Cummings agreed that there is nothing in his file to suggest that he talked to Dr. Berland or any other mental health expert. (EHT. 43) Cummings did not "recall speaking with anybody about that document (the Showalter memorandum)." (Id.) When asked whether he spoke with anybody about the presentation of mental health evidence in Mr. Jones' case, Cummings stated, "Well, I'm going to tell you I don't have any specific recollection. file does not recall it." (Id.) Cummings' bill for services does not reflect any conversation with a mental health expert. (Id.) Cummings did not recall ever speaking with Mr. Jones' public defenders. (EHT. 45) Cummings identified a "graph" from his file that was with some records of the Department of Corrections. (Id.) Cummings testified, examining the graph that was in his file, that "I can't tell you specifically remembering, but at some point in time I probably made a conscious decision not to use a mental health expert based upon what that graph, the results of the testing show." (EHT. 46) Cummings agreed that his file and bill in this case do not reflect that he ever spoke with a mental health expert. (Id.) Cummings testified that he cannot be certain he spoke with an expert. (EHT. 47) Cummings stated that Mr. Jones would not have refused evaluation by a mental health expert. (Id.) Cummings testified that if he had evidence of mental illness and brain damage to support statutory mental health mitigation, he would have wanted to present it. (Id.)

Cummings testified that Mr. Jones' intoxication at the time of the crime was something he wanted to establish. (EHT. 48)

Cummings identified a hospital toxicology report that stated Mr. Jones' blood-alcohol level at .263 with traces of cocaine.

(EHT. 49) Cummings was aware of this report as well as the fact that Mr. Jones had drug use issues, specifically cocaine. (EHT. 49-50)

Cummings testified that in preparation for penalty phase, he spent "a morning" with Mr. Jones' family. (EHT. 51)

Cummings stated that he thought that would be enough. (EHT. 52)

Cummings stated that Mr. Jones' sister "always was" going to be the only person to testify. (Id.) Cummings did not talk to any teachers or get school records. (Id.) Cummings did not recall why Mr. Jones' mother was not called to testify. (EHT. 53)

Further testifying as to why only Mr. Jones' sister testified,

Cummings stated, "The trial had ended and the judge gave us - he said, we'll start the penalty phase in about an hour. And that sort of threw me. And I don't know who was in a very good emotional state to testify at that time." (Id.) Cummings did not recall if he ever spoke with Mr. Jones' father. (Id.)

siblings and would have wanted them to testify if they could provide information additional to that of Betty Jones Stewart. (EHT. 54) Cummings testified that he would want someone such as a teacher or coach to testify and does not know why "it didn't get done" in this case. (EHT. 54-55) Cummings did not recall talking to Kay Underwood, a former girlfriend of Mr. Jones, and did not recall her name. (EHT. 55) Cummings testified that he does not recall being aware that Mr. Jones had a ten year old daughter at the time of the trial. (Id.) Cummings thinks he may have read this recently and "it was like news to me maybe, I don't know." (Id.) Cummings testified that he believes he could have done more to develop the penalty phase of Mr. Jones' case, both as a matter of hindsight and because "I think there probably could have been some more done at that point in time too." (EHT. 60)

Cummings testified that he "wasn't the most experienced felony lawyer" when he was with the public defender, but he had handled several hundred cases. (EHT. 63-64) Cummings stated that the fact that this was his first death penalty case made him nervous. (EHT. 65-66) Cummings had conversations with Mr. Jones about the case. (EHT. 67) Cummings stated, when asked by the prosecutor if he was concerned about Mr. Jones' being violent, "I never had those concerns with Mr. Jones. He was

always very polite and respectful, and I hope I was the same to him." (EHT. 69)

Cummings testified that he recalled the memorandum written by Nancy Showalter about Dr. Berland's evaluation. memorandum referred to "aggressive behavior" by Mr. Jones, but Cummings never saw any evidence of this. (EHT. 70) Cummings testified that his meetings with Mr. Jones did not raise any mental health concerns. (EHT. 71) The memorandum states that Dr. Berland recommended against having a brain scan done. 73) Cummings testified that he received DOC records and mental health reports. (EHT. 74) There were areas of the records that he "starred." (Id.) Cummings stated that the graph of Dr. Berland's MMPI results was found with the DOC records. 4 Cummings stated that he highlighted a portion of a report by a DOC psychiatrist which stated that "progress is guarded with respect to his anti-social behavior." (EHT. 76) Cummings stated that he highlighted some areas "that were bad." (EHT. 77) report stated that there were no hallucinations or delusions

⁴The records which Mr. Cummings reviewed were a copy of his original file. The copy was provided to the 2nd Circuit State Attorney's Office by undersigned counsel at their request. Cummings' original file, prior to being in the possession of undersigned counsel, was in the possession of Capital Collateral Representative and Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-North. Prior to being in the possession of CCR/CCRC-N, the file was in the possession of attorney James Lohman. Prior to Lohman, the file was in possession of CCR during an earlier assignment to Mr. Jones' case.

noted. (EHT. 78) Cummings identified another DOC report which noted psychiatric disabilities and anti-social personality disorder. (EHT. 79) Cummings stated that the reports would have been a concern in presenting a mental health defense. (Id.) Cummings added that he does not know that a specific decision was made to forego mental health testimony because of the records. (EHT. 80) Cummings speculated that that may have been the case. (Id.) Cummings speculated as to some experienced attorneys he may have talked to. (EHT. 81-83) Cummings identified a 1977 DOC psychiatric report in which Mr. Jones allegedly denied hallucinations. (EHT. 83) Cummings stated that he "assumes" he was thinking that, based on this, Mr. Jones did not have sufficient "mental issues." (EHT. 84)

Cummings testified that Mr. Jones always denied committing the crime. (EHT. 85) Cummings stated that although mitigation "experts" were not in common use at the time of Mr. Jones' trial, mental health mitigation was "pretty-well established." (EHT. 86-87) Cummings stated that he would not have known how to interpret the MMPI results from Dr. Berland's evaluation. (EHT. 88-89) Cummings acknowledged that he is only speculating as to why he did not further investigate the mental health issue presented by Dr. Berland's evaluation. (EHT. 90)

Cummings testified that he focused on Mr. Jones' childhood

in presenting mitigation. (EHT. 91) Cummings stated that he used only Mr. Jones' sister Betty because she was more articulate, stable, and credible. (EHT. 91) Cummings testified that although Betty testified to Mr. Jones' father's abandonment at trial, "in the family setting where I was, I think, all the members added to what took place the day Mr. Jones' father dropped him off and left him and never came back." (Id.)

Cummings did not have a recollection whether any other family member could have contributed to the penalty phase presentation. (EHT. 94)

Cummings testified that assumes the Public Defender gave
him everything they had on Mr. Jones' case within ethical
bounds. (EHT. 98) Cummings did not recall Ines Suber being
called or subpoenaed as a witness in Mr. Jones' case. (EHT. 9899) Cummings had no reason to believe the prosecution was
hiding any evidence from him. (EHT. 99)

Cummings agreed that the Public Defender's Office would not be under an obligation to him to divulge privileged information, even though it may be exculpatory. (EHT. 104) Cummings did not make a strategy decision not to present coaches, teachers, or like witnesses. (EHT. 105) Cummings agreed that if he had testimony reflecting significant mental illness and brain damage, it would have been better to put the evidence on because

when "you get the right person to explain it, it's hard to overcome." (EHT. 108) Cummings agreed that the DOC records did not contain any written notes, only stars and highlights. (EHT. 109) Cummings agreed that although he personally did not detect mental illness in Mr. Jones, Showalter's memo of Dr. Berland's evaluation certainly reflects it. (EHT. 110) Cummings agreed that Dr. Berland would be a better person to make a judgment as to the existence of mental illness, "by far." (Id.) Cummings added that if he got this case today, the first issue he would try to deal with is whether mental illness is at play. (Id.) Cummings stated that he had no capital experience at the time of the trial and does not remember the conflict list requiring any for handling a capital case. (EHT. 111) Cummings stated that his investigator was not obtained to investigate mitigation. (EHT. 112)

Dr. Joseph Accurso has been a practicing chiropractor for 35 years at his practice in South Miami. (EHT. 118) Dr. Accurso coached youth football in Miami from 1960-65 and 1968-76 at the Southwest Boys' Club. (EHT. 119) As a coach, Dr. Accurso became acquainted with Mr. Jones when Harry was approximately thirteen years old. (Id.) Accurso testified that Mr. Jones had a "rough home-life." (EHT. 119-20) Dr. Accurso testified that Harry was a "bright-eyed" boy who was an

"absolute, fabulous football player." (EHT. 120) Accurso stated that although Harry was an excellent player, he stood up for and had a "soft spot in his heart" for the kids who were not as good and were picked on. (Id.) Accurso added that ". . . that impressed me. It impressed all the coaches. He was a real leader and a real good kid." (Id.) Accurso stated that Harry was respectful to him as the football coach. (Id.) Harry "always showed up at practice and he worked hard." (EHT. 121) Harry was a bright kid and "the leader on the team." (Id.) Harry was respectful of other players and was never in fights. (Id.) Dr. Accurso stated that eventually Harry began to hang out with another troubled kid and may have began using marijuana. (EHT. 121-22) Dr. Accurso stated that Harry was one of the kids that he "loved to have babysit for my kids." Dr. Accurso testified that when he heard about Mr. Jones' murder conviction, it was a surprise to him. (EHT. 122) Dr. Accurso added that Harry "was a real special kid when he was 13." (Id.)

Nancy Daniels testified that she is the Public Defender for the Second Judicial Circuit and has been since 1990. (EHT. 125) Daniels recalled her office representing Mr. Jones. (EHT. 126) Daniels had a specific recollection of a conflict that arose in the representation of Mr. Jones. (Id.) The conflict involved another public defender client named Kevin Prim. (Id.) Daniels

identified and recognized the conflict memo written to her by

Gene Taylor regarding Mr. Jones' case. (EHT. 127) The memo

reflects Mr. Taylor's basis for the conflict. (Id.) The memo

reflects that Ines Suber received some information regarding a

release on recognizance for Kevin Prim. (EHT. 128) Daniels

stated that Gene Taylor "absolutely" would be accurate in his

communications to her. (EHT. 130) Daniels trusts Suber. (Id.)

Daniels office ultimately certified a conflict. (EHT. 131)

Daniels was aware of the basis for the ROR motion filed by

Suber. (EHT. 134)

Sam Middleton testified that he is sixty-four-years old,
lives in South Miami and has since 1950. (EHT. 137) Middleton
testified that he knows Harry Jones and is married to Mr. Jones'
cousin. (Id.) Middleton was approximately twenty-five and Mr.
Jones three-years old when they first met. (Id.) Both
Middleton and Mr. Jones are originally from South Carolina.
(EHT. 138) Harry was a good child who treated Middleton with
"great respect." (EHT. 139) Harry was well-mannered towards
Middleton and treated Middleton as an authority figure. (Id.)
After Mr. Jones' mother was sent to prison, Mr. Jones and his
siblings "missed the mother and they had to fend on their own."
(EHT. 140) Middleton last saw Mr. Jones before he moved to
Tallahassee. (Id.) Middleton eventually became aware that Mr.

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