IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HARRY JONES,

Appellant

v.

Case No. SC06-474

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General Pl-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160, 1178 (Fla. 2005), is on point:

Mansfield also claims that Randall lied at the trial when he stated that he did not expect to receive any benefits for his testimony against Mansfield. Assistant State Attorney Sedgwick stated in her opening statement that Randall would tell the jury that no agreement existed, although Randall was hoping that his cooperation would affect his upcoming sentencing. Mansfield asserts that this statement and the fact that Sedgwick spoke to a prosecutor on Randall's behalf within a month of Mansfield's trial conflicted with Randall's testimony that he did not expect any benefit as the result of his testimony.

The postconviction court found there was no evidence that Randall was promised any benefit in exchange for his testimony. We do not find that the trial court's finding was error. We agree and affirm the postconviction court's denial of this claim.

Keeping in mind that Kevin Prim was in jail only 9 for petit theft or theft

57

^{9 &}quot;Only," in terms of its contrast to this brutal murder.

when he was released (PC/14 339; see also PC/4 728), his release from jail was common knowledge (See TT/IV 684-85), and, indeed, as further developed infra, defense counsel pressed the point to the jury in his closing argument (See TT/V 867-68). In other words, defense counsel skillfully employed the gravamen of the information in this claim. Therefore, even if somehow there was no competent evidence supporting the trial court's finding and even if somehow Jones' inference based upon Suber's inferences and hearsay were determinative of whether a law-enforcement promise had been made, there would be no prejudice or harm incurred from the non-disclosure, thereby meriting affirmance.

Here, Prim was like witness-Freeman in <u>Ponticelli v. State</u>, 941 So.2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2006):

Freeman was significantly impeached on his capacity for truthfulness and his incentive for testifying against Ponticelli. Therefore, informing the jury that Freeman might be testifying falsely because of his hope for an unguaranteed, unspecified award would not have rendered him 'sufficiently less credible in the jury's eyes' to establish a reasonable possibility that this contributed to the verdict. Therefore, we deny this claim. Cf. Marshall, 854 So.2d at 1252 (denying Giglio claim based on the State's alleged promise to a witness because 'even assuming that the alleged promise was made,' defense counsel impeached the witness regarding the subject of the promise, and the witness was not "the sole witness to testify in regard to the events surrounding the murder").

Accordingly, Jones also has not demonstrated that the trial court erred in rejecting his postconviction claim that the prosecution withheld information from the defense concerning Prim's "ongoing criminal activity, including crack cocaine use" (IB 62). The trial court's findings and rulings merit affirmance:

Finally, in Ground One of his motion Defendant alleges the State failed to inform the defense that Kevin Prim had committed some robberies before, during and after the trials. It is undisputed that the first trial took place May 13-15, 1992; the second trial November 10-13, 1992, and the sentencing on November 20, 1992. While the record is silent regarding any robberies allegedly committed by Kevin Prim between the two

trials, the record is clear that Mr. Prim picked up a grand theft charge that was pending when he testified at the second trial and that defense counsel was aware of the charge and questioned him regarding the same. (Exhibit K, TT, P. 688, 11. 8-22).

An examination of the offense report dated October 24, 1992, and the two offense reports dated November 19, 1992, clearly reveals that Kevin Prim was arrested on all three arrest reports on November 19, 1992, at 4:15 pm, less than 24 hours prior to Defendant's sentencing on November 20, 1992, and six days after the second trial. (Exhibit L, TPD arrest reports). The prosecuting attorney would not have been aware of the arrests until some time later, which in this case was after sentencing. (Exhibit M, 3.850 Hearing Transcript, P. 321, 1.17 through P. 322, 1.11).

Defendant has failed to demonstrate that the State withheld favorable evidence which was materially exculpatory and impeaching, that the evidence was withheld either intentionally or inadvertently, and that Defendant was thus prejudiced. Ground 1 of Defendant's motion is without merit.

(PC/5 929-30)

Jones' argument (IB 62-64) ignores the effective advocacy of trial defense counsel, as mentioned above and in the Statement of the Case and Facts <u>supra</u>. It was absolutely clear at trial that Prim had an extensive criminal record, including five felony convictions (TT/IV 677). Defense counsel's cross-examination of Prim elicited from him that he had been "arrested a number of times" after his release, including Prim's acknowledgement of an arrest "for the grand theft of a substantial amount of money." (TT/IV 685) Defense counsel then proceeded to hammer Prim concerning several offenses and dispositions and implied that Prim hoped to get out of jail in exchange for his cooperation against Jones (<u>See</u> Id. 685-89, 694) and followed up in his closing argument (<u>See</u> TT/V 867-69).

Here Prim is like witness-Randall in <u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 1160, 1177-78 (Fla. 2005):

The jury was made aware of Randall's past federal convictions, his current state charges, the fact that he had escaped from a federal halfway house, and the numerous times Randall had informed on other fellow inmates. We find no error in the trial court's determination that extra charges pending against Randall would not have made Randall sufficiently less credible in the jury's eyes than he already was, and thus there is no reasonable likelihood that the jury would have found Mansfield not guilty had the jury known about these federal charges.

Moreover, as suggested by the trial court's order, Jones' argument would cast a nearly impossible burden upon the prosecution to know nearly hour-byhour whether its witnesses have become even a suspect in a crime in a case investigated by an agency not involved in the murder case. Here, this murder was investigated by the Sheriff's Office (See, e.g., TT/III 508-564), and, as the trial court found (PC/5 929), unknown to the prosecutor until later (PC/14 321-22); at some point in time, the Tallahassee Police Department was investigating theft-related crimes in which Prim eventually became a suspect (See Defense Exhibits #8, #9, #10). Indeed, the jury penalty phase was completed on November 13, 1992, the Spencer hearing was November 18, 1992, and sentencing was November 20, 1992. (See TT/VI four bound transcript volumes) Prim was not a suspect in one of the incidents until November 18, 1992, he was not arrested until November 19, 1992, (Id. 364), and for two of the police reports (#9 and #10), the offenses and the arrests were on November 19, 1992 (PC/14 363). Officer Johnson, of the Tallahassee Police Dept., did not even know Prim was a witness in a murder case until about a week before the 2004 evidentiary hearing. (PC/14 362)

Concerning the allegation of Prim's crack use, Jones' postconviction motion alleged that Kevin Prim was a "Crack Addict" (PC/3 488), that Prim "expressed" a "desperate need for crack" (Id. 489), that Prim had a "severe crack

addiction" (Id. 490), and that Prim's "true motive" for cooperating with the prosecution was to "get out of jail at any cost to satisfy his need for crack cocaine" (PC/3 474). The trial court ruled (PC/5 930) that Jones utterly failed to prove any of those allegations at the postconviction evidentiary hearing. In contrast to Jones' allegations against Prim, in the 10 years since the trial became final, Jones has been able to muster a police report indicating that when the Tallahassee Police Dept. arrested Prim for Petty Theft on November 19, 1992, (after the jury trial) he had in his pocket a three inch glass tube that appeared to the officer to be crack paraphernalia. (See Defense Exhibit #10) In addition to the near-impossible burden Jones' argument would impose on the prosecution, as discussed above, Jones has failed to prove that a chemical test confirmed the nature of the residue on the tube and that the evidence of the tube would have been otherwise admissible at Jones' trial, and, in any event, in contrast to trial defense counsel's competent use of his existing information concerning Prim, this one reported incident pales. This would not have made Prim any "less credible in the jury's eyes than he already was," Mansfield.

C. Application of standard to the facts of this case: Victim's alleged DUI.

Jones complains (IB 66-67) in the current appeal that some notes constitute Brady material.

Jones' postconviction motion alleged (PC/3 483) that he could establish that the State withheld evidence that the victim was seen an hour before encountering Jones "in the Northern part of Leon County" in an "extremely intoxicated" condition. When it came time for Jones to prove this allegation,

all Jones could muster were some notes that postconviction counsel says he obtained from the State Attorney's Office (PC/12 31). On the first page of the notes, "Trooper Donald Ross" and some facts were written. On their second page, the notes said:

D very drunk but V probably quite intoxicated too.

Wit saw V driving earlier in evening, obviously DUI at 6 p.m.

(Defense Exhibit #12) There is no indication of who took the notes, when, and under what circumstances. There is no indication of whether the supposed information is derived from hearsay, double hearsay, triple hearsay, or hearsay to the umpteenth power. There is no indication of who "Wit" is, was, or will be. On appeal (IB 66 n. 6), Jones speculates concerning the creation of the notes, but speculation is no substitute for authentication, relevancy, and nonhearsay.

Indeed, the trial court ruled that the notes were not admissible, and so the notes are only in the postconviction record as proffered. (See PC/12 31-33) As such, they cannot be the basis of relief for this claim, and Jones has not contended on appeal that the notes were properly authenticated or demonstrated that they were otherwise competent evidence of anything.

Jones concedes that the lower court failed to address this claim, and he therefore failed to obtain a ruling from the trial court on it. There is no trial court ruling on this claim to appeal. See, e.g., Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 629 (Fla. 2006)("failure to obtain a ruling on a motion or objection fails to preserve an issue for appeal"); Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994)("trial judge reserved ruling on this issue and apparently never

issued a ruling ..., this issue is procedurally barred"); Stone v. State, 378 So.2d 765, 768 (Fla. 1979)("appellate court must confine itself to review of only those questions which were before the trial court and upon which a ruling adverse to the defendant was made").

Moreover, even erroneously accepting Jones' appellate speculation at face value, the prosecution at trial and the State's evidence had essentially conceded the fact that this appellate claim asserts. (See, e.g., TT/II 214-15, 282, 283, 287, 298; TT/V 845; TT/VI 979; see also TT/IV 586-88; PC/6 1056-57). Indeed, the prosecutor argued to the jury:

George Young [the victim] had begun to drink again that last year of his life and that too made him vulnerable because alcohol, as we all know, can cloud your judgment and prevent you from seeing the danger of situations that you're entering.

(TT/V 860) Therefore, the victim's condition was not hidden from the defense. There is no Brady violation and certainly no prejudice has been demonstrated.

D. Retroactive harmless error analysis.

Jones argues (IB 64-66) that, because of the other arguments Jones makes in ISSUE I, there should be a retroactive re-conducting of the hamless error analysis in the direct appeal of Jones' conviction and death sentence, <u>Jones v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1994). As a preliminary matter, the State contests Jones assertion (IB 66) that this was "clearly a felony-murder case only." The jury was instructed on both felony murder and premeditated murder (TT/V 916-18), and there was extensive evidence of both felony murder and premeditation (See, e.g., prosecutor's argument at TT/V 848 et seq).

The State has seven responses to this retroactive-harmless-error claim.

First, Jones has not shown where this claim was timely raised with the

trial court. It appears that a similar argument was raised in 2005 through a "Supplemental Motion ..." (PC/V 845 et seq.), which the State opposed as untimely because it was filed outside of the 30-day limit for amendments afforded by Rule 3.851(f)(4), Fla.R.Crim.P. (PC/5 912 et seq) The State maintains its assertion that this claim was not timely raised in the trial court. See also Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(d)(time limit of one-year after judgment and sentence final).

Second, Jones has not shown where **both** parties were afforded an opportunity to argue this claim on the merits to the trial court and where the trial court adversely ruled on it. It is therefore unpreserved. <u>See Farina; Armstrong;</u> Stone.

Third, Jones' claim improperly jumbles standards of judicial review. In essence, he is attempting to use a <u>Brady/Giglio</u> claim, for which the trial court is the primary factual arbiter, in order to retroactively re-evaluate a harmless error analysis, for which this Court is the arbiter. An argument similar to Jones' claim here was recently rejected in <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 32 Fla.L.Weekly S390, 2007 WL 1932240 (Fla. July 5, 2007).

Fourth, the gravamen of this claim is analogous to the argument that inadmissible evidence cannot be considered in evaluating sufficiency of evidence on appeal. Such an argument is meritless, <u>See Lockhart v. Nelson</u>, 488 U.S. 33 (1988); Stroud v. United States, 251 U.S. 15 (1919).

Fifth, this Court's opinion in the direct appeal is final and stands on its own, given the constellation of facts presented at that time.

Sixth, even if all of the preceding five arguments are rejected, the

factual basis of this claim depends upon the trial court's acceptance of the evidence that supposedly provides the foundation for this claim. As the State has extensively argued <u>supra</u> in this issue and as the trial court essentially found, that factual foundation is ineffectual.

Seven, while Prim's testimony was a significant part of the State's case against Jones, Jones overlooks additional weighty incriminating evidence against him, such as:

- ? Watson's testimony that he overheard Prim admit to the murder (TT/IV 700-702);
- ? the plant life found in the victim's esophagus (<u>Compare</u> TT/IV 655-58 <u>with</u> TT/IV 615-19);
- ? the extensive nature of the victim's injuries and his torn clothing (TT/IV 649-55);
- ? Jones position to view the victim flashing a roll of money (See TT/II 277-79, 298-99);
- ? the victim last seen alive in the company of Jones and another person who was nearly incapacitated while they drove off together in the victim's vehicle (TT/II 280-84, 299-302) and the victim being found dead a few days later (TT/III 425-27);
- ? Jones' lying to Wood that he obtained the victim's vehicle by borrowing it from someone in Frenchtown for \$20, by stating he did not know the other person's name, and by stating that the other person is not white (See TT/III 514-15); and,
- ? Jones wrecking the victim's truck about an hour after being seen driving off with the victim (<u>Compare</u> TT/II 353-58 with TT/II 302, 315-16).

(<u>See also</u> prosecutor's closing argument at TT/V 841-62, 905-13) Even if Prim's testimony were totally excluded, any error discussed in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 669, would still have been harmless.

Indeed, in conclusion, for this claim as well as the <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> claims, what is harmless and non-prejudicial is the evidence that **Jones**

produced at the postconviction evidentiary hearing; it is insignificant, especially in light of the totality of facts in this case.

ISSUE II

WHETHER JONES HAS DEMONSTRATED THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT HE FAILED TO ESTABLISH BOTH PRONGS OF AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM PERTAINING TO THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL. (RESTATED)

Issue II ("ARGUMENT II," IB 68-91) argues that defense trial counsel, Greg Cummings, was constitutionally ineffective under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), at the penalty phase of the proceedings that resulted in the 10-2 jury recommendation of death (R/5 785; TT/VI 1002) and subsequent sentence of death (R/5 821, 828-36; TT/VI 995-1009).

Since the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this matter, the trial court's factual determinations are entitled to special deference on appeal:

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